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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

UNITED STATES
No. 3:05€er-118(SRU)
V. No. 3:16€v-1044 (SRU)

CRAIG HINES

RULING ON SECTION 2255 AND FIRST STEP ACT MOTIONS

Craig Hineq("Hines)), a prisoner currently incarcerated at the United States Penitentiary
Coleman Ilin Sunterville, Floridg has moved to vacate, set aside, or correct his sentence
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255 and also requedis resentenced under the First Step Aot
the reasons that follg | deny Hiness habeas petition argt ant his First Step Act motion

regarding hisequesfor aresentencing

l. Background

On August 30, 2005, Hines pled guiltydachcount of a three-count indictment
charging: felon in possession of a firearm, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 922(g)(1) and 924(e)
(count one), possession with intent to distribute five or more grams of cocainedasmack
cocaine,” in violation of 21 U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(B) (count two), and possession, use,
and carrying a firearm during, in relation to, and in furtherance of a drug offense, ifouiofat
18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1) (count threle)SeePlea Agreementr. Doc. No. 29; Min. EntryCr.
Doc.No. 27.

On February 17, 2006, | sentenced Hines to 262 months’ imprisonment on count one, 202

months’ imprisonment on count two, and 60 months’ imprisonment on count Seee.

11 refer to documents in Hines’s criminal casajted States v. Hinedlo. 3:05¢r-118 (SRU), with the shorthand
“Cr. Doc.”
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Judgment, Cr. Doc. No. 38. The sentences on counts two and three were to run consecutively,
for a totalof 262 months; and that combined sentence was to run concurrently with the 262
months on count ondd. | also sentenced Hines to five years of supervised release on each
count, all terms to run concurrentiid.

At sentencing, in accordance with tHegagreement, the parties stipulated that Hines
gualified as an armed career criminal under the Armed Career Criminal Act (“AGDA as a
career offender under the federal Sentencing Guidelida®s’s predicate offenses were a 1995
state conviction for conspiracy to sell hallucinogens, a 1996 state conviction fadegiele
robbery, and a 1997 state conviction for conspiracy to commit setegrde assauliSeePlea
Agreement, Cr. Doc. No. 29, at 5; Final PSR at 11 21B28ause Hinegivag detemined to
be a career offendetinder the guidelines amdas “convicted ofviolating] 18 U.S.C. § 924(¢)
U.S.S.G. § 4B1.1(che was subject tthe higher of (athe Guidelines range for Count Two (188
to 235 months of imprisonment) plus the mandatory minimum of 60 months on Count Three (a
total of 248 to 295 months of imprisonment), or tfie Guidelinesrange for Count Three (a total
of 262 to 327 months of imprisonmenBee idat 8§ 4B1.1(c)(2). The latter range was higher, so
| concluded that Hines’s advisory Guidelines range was 262 to 327 months of impris@eeent,
id. at § 4B1.1(c)(3), and sentenced him to the bottom of that range. | did not discuss Hines’s
designation as an armed careemanial under ACCA.See generallsentencing Hr'g Tr.Cr.

Doc. No. 11-3.
Judgment entered on March 2, 2006. Cr. Doc. No. 38. Hines appealed, and the Second

Circuit summarily affirmed.SeeCr. Doc. No. 58.



. Section 2255 Motion to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Sentence
a. Standard of Review
Section 2255 provides a prisoner in federal custody an opportunity to challenge the
legality of his sentence. To obtain relief under section 2255, the petitioner must show that his
prior sentence wasavalid becaus¢he sentence: (1) wasnposed in violation of the
Constitution or laws of the United Statp€2) was imposed “without jurisdiction” by the
sentencing cour{3) was ‘in excess of the maximum authorized by laat’ (4) is“otherwise
subjet to collateral attack.”28 U.S.C. § 2255(a). The standard is a high one; even
constitutional errors will not be redressed through a section 2255 petition unless they have had
“substantial and injurious effect” that results in acfu@judice to the gtitioner. Brecht v.
Abrahamson507 U.S. 619, 6231993) (internal citations omitted)nderwood v. United
States 166 F.3d 84, 87 (2d Cir. 1999) (applyiBgechts harmless error standard to section 2255
petition).
A section 2255 petition “may not be employed to relitigate questions which were raised
and considered on direct appeaCabrera v. United State972 F.2d 23, 25 (2d Cir. 1992¢e
also Reese v. United Stat829 F. App’'x 324, 326 (2d Cir. 2009) (quotibgited States v.
Sanin 252 F.3d 79, 83 (2d Cir. 2001)yhatlimitation prohibits relitigation of issues that were
expressly or impliedly decided on direct appeadeUnited States v. Ben @42 F.3d 89, 95
(2d Cir. 2001). A court may only reconsider an earlier decision if it is “confronted with ‘a
intervening change of controlling law, the availability of new evidence, or the needéotcor
clear error oprevent manifest injustice.”United States v. Beckes02 F.3d 122, 127 (2d Cir.
2007) (quotingJnited States.vTenzer213 F.3d 34, 39 (2d Cir. 2000)).

Furthermore, a section 2255 petitisrinot a substitute for direct app&aHarrington v.



United States689 F.3d 124, 129 (2d Cir. 2012) (citidgang v. United StateSP6 F.3d 162,
166 (2d Cir. 2007)) A court will not review claims that the petitioner failed to properly raise on
direct review “unless the petitioner shows (1) good cause to excuse the defaulwing e
prejudice, or (2) actual innocence . . .Id. (citing Bousley v. United States23 U.S. 614, 622
(1998)). In the context of a habeas petitiorttial innocence means factual innocence, not
mere legal insufficiency.’Bousley 523 U.S. at 623 (internal quotations omitted).

The petitioner bears the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he is
entitled to relief. See Napoli v. United Stateds F.3d 680, 683 (2d Cir. 1995 district court
is not required to accept the petitioner’s factual assertions as credible “wheséntns are
contradicted by the record in the underlying proceedifuglisi v. United State$86 F.3d 209,
214 (2009). Section 2255 also requires that the district court hold a hearing on the petitioner’s
motion unless “the motion and the files and records of the case conclusively shthe that
prisoner is entitled to no relief.Chang v. United State850 F.3d 79, 8¢2d Cir. 2001). But
“although a hearing may be warranted, that conclusion does not imply that a movant mysst alwa
be allowed to appear in a district court for a full hearing if the record does natsigat} and
expressly belie his clairh Id. (citing Machibroda v. United State868 U.S. 487, 495 (1962)).
“[1f it plainly appears from th¢petition], any attached exhibits, and the record of prior
proceedings that the [petitionés]not entitled to relief, the judge must dismiss the [petifion]
Puglisi, 586 F.3d at 213.

b. Eligibility for Relief

Hines asserts that his sentence was unconstitutionally enhanced uriRlesitheal

Clause ofACCA, 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(ii), and that he is entitled to resentencing pursuant to

Johnson v. United StateBs35 S. Ct. 2551 (20)5 | agree that Hinewas improperly



characterized as an armed career crimunaler ACCA butl conclude that the error was
harmless. Hines received two concurrent sentences that, together, equal the lesgth of hi
sentence under ACCA, and neither of those sentences may be challengelbnsien In
addition, when sentencing Hines, | did not rely upon his ptegstatus as an armed career
criminalunder ACCA.

As noted aboveslines received separate sentences on each count of -@dlrge
indictment: 262 months on Count One (for violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 922(g)(1) & 924(e)), 202
months on Count Two (for violation of 21 U.S.C. 8§88 841(a)(1) & 841(b)(1)(B)), and 60 months
on Count Three (for violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(I1jlines’s sentence on Count Two ran
concurrently with his sentence on Count One; his sentence on Count Three ran consecutively to
his sentence on Count Two and concurrently with his sentence on Counidbmsonwhich
provides the legal basis for Hines'’s petition, invalidated only the sentence on Count One (the
ACCA count). The penalties for Counts Two and Three weraffetted byACCA, and
Hines’s sentences on those counts were not rendered susgebnispn

Furthermore, Hines’s advisory range under the Sentencing Guidelines—which dominated
my discussion at the sentencing heargegSentencing Hr'gr'r., Doc. No. 113—was not
impacted by hisrmed career criminaesignation under ACCAHines’s Guidelines range was
enhanced not because of his designation uR@€A, but because he was a career offender
under the Guidelinesho “ha[d] at least two por felony convictions of either a crime of
violence or a controlled substance offensg€eU.S.S.G. § 4B1.1(a)Because Hines was
“convicted of [violating] 18 U.S.C. § 924(c) . . . awld determined to be a career offender,”

id. at 8 4B1.1(c), he was subject to a higher Guidelines range of 262 to 327 months of

imprisonment.Seed. at 8 4B1.1(c)(2)(3). Hence, with respect to the Sentencing Guidelines



range, his armed career criminal designation uUAGXCA never entered the picturélines’s
advisory range was increased solely due to the Guidelines’ career offendeloprovisi

| emphasize thatohnsondid not affecHines’sdesignatioras a career offendender the
Guidelines because “the advisory Guidelines are not subject to vagueness chalieiegéise
Due Process ClauseBeckles v. United States37 S. Ct. 886, 890 (2017At the time of
sentencingHines qualified as a career offenderder the Guidelines on the basisabfeastwo
prior convictions: one in 1996 fdinird-degree robbery in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-
1362 and another in 1997 for conspiracy to commit second-degree assault in violation of Conn.
Gen. Stat. § 53a-48.The 1996 convictiomualifies as a predicateffenseunder the Elements
Clauseof the career offender guideline. As other judges of this court have determined, third-
degree robbery is “categorically a violent felony” because “an essential elentige offense
is the use or threatened use of physical force upon another pe@Gamer v. United Stateg31
F. Supp. 2d 262, 273 (D. Conn. 201€9pGomez v. Ashcrqf293 F. Supp. 2d 162, 166 (D.
Conn. 2003)¢cf. Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-133 (defining robbery to require the defendant to have
“use[d] or threaten[ed] the immediate use of physical forcéhus, thirddegree robbery

remains a “violent felony” or “crime ofiolence” under the GuidelineElements Clauseind

2Conn. Gen. Stat. 8§ 53E86(a) provides: “A person is guilty of robbery in the third degree when he commits
robbery as defined isection 53dl33.” Section 53dl33, in turn, provides: “A person commits robbery when, in the
course of committing a larceny, he uses or threatens the immediate use of ghgstoapon another person for the
purpose of: (1) Preventing or overcoming resistance to the taking of the properth@rétention thereof

immediately after the taking; or (2) compelling the owner of such property or apetisen to deliver up the

property or to engage in other conduct which aids in the commission of theylarce

3 Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53%8 provides: “A person is guilty of conspiracy when, with intent that conduct constituting a
crime be performed, he agrees with one or more persons to engage in or cause tharprfof such conduct, and
any one of them commits an overt act in pursuance of such conspifdey tinderlying crime of assault in the
second degree is codified at Conn. Gen. Stat. $568a).
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Hines’s 1996 conviction serves as a predicate offense for the application ofetieaftender
guideline?
Hines’s 1997 convictiodoes not clearly qualify as a predicate offemséerthe
Elements Clausef the career offender guideline. Although the underlying crime that Hines was
convicted of conspiring to commit—assault in the second degappears to “halve] as an
element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physicaPfeeeeJohnsqri35 S. Ctat
2555 (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(i3ke alsdJ.S.S.G. § 4B1.@)(2) (observing that
“[c]rime of violence’ includes . . . aggravated assault”), | haved that “conspiracy to commit

an offense does not qualify as a violent felony simply because the underlying offense, if

completed, would require the use of physical force against another peW8mgan v. United

4 Hines was a minor at the time of his 1996 conviction, but that offense may be coumigseldee was “convicted

as an adult and received a sentence of imprisonment exceeding one year and oneSeadtB.S.G. §

4A1.2(d)(1). Hines must have been conted as an adult because he was sentenced to eight years of incarceration,
well above the fouyear maximum authorized for “youthful offenders” in Connectic&s#eConn. Gen. Stat. § 54
76j(a);cf. Conn. Gen. Stat. § 4610(b) (not authorizing any term of incarceration as punishment for a juvenile
delinquent).

5 Conn. Gen. Stat. § 5&0(a) is a “divisible” statute, i.e., it is divided into a number of subsectauts, one of
which constitutes an “alternative version[] of the crim8é&e Descamps vnided States570 U.S. 254, 262 (2013).
Ordinarily, such a statute would be analyzed under the Supreme Court’s “modiéigdrizt! approach,” which
allows courts to “examine a limited class of documents” in order to “determimd whithe] statute’s &rnative
elements formed the basis of the defendant’s prior convictilwh fh this case, however, | need not apply the
modified categorical approach: nearly all of section-63@)’s subsections expressly require that the defendant
have intentionallycause[d]” some form of “physical injury” to another person, and the Suprenm l@suheld that
“the knowing or intentional causation of bodily injury necessarily involves the use of dHgstea” SeeUnited
States v. Castlemah72 U.S. 157, 16@013).0Only subsection (3) criminalizes “reckless” conduct, and that
subsection requires the defendant to have “cause[d] serious physical injuoyttergerson by means of a deadly
weapon or a dangerous instrument,” Conn. Gen. Stat.-8®3a(3), which also would “necessarily involve[] the
use of physical force.'See Castlema®72 U.S.at 169.

I note thatCastlemarfabrogated” the “understanding of the use of force” reflecte@hirzanoski v.
Ashcroft 327 F.3d 188 (2d Cir. 2003), which held ttidtd-degree assault was not a “crime of violence” under
Connecticut law because “the intentional causation of injury does not negeissaiive the use of force.1d. at
195-96; see Villanueva v. United Stat@93 F. 3d 123, 13@iscussingCastlemanhs impact orChrzanoskj.
WhereasChrzanoskreasonedhat “even seconefdegree assault . . . can be committed without any physical force,”
see327 F.3d at 196—Ilike when “a doctor . . . deliberately withholds vital medicine from a sick patieht,”
(citing State v. Nune60 Conn. 649 (2002)yCastlemarfmade clear that physical force ‘encompasses even its
indirect application,” as when a battery is committed by administering a goisimited States v. Hill890 F.3d 51,
59 (2d Cir. 2018) (quotingastleman134 S. Ct. at 141345). Because “a use of physical force can encompass acts
undertaken to cause physical harm, even when the harm occurs inditditly890 F.3dat 60,Castlemammakes
clear that all of the subseati® of Connecticut’s secortbgree assault statute “hajve] as an element the use,
attempted use, or threatened use of physical forse€ Johnson v. United Stat#85 S. Ct. 2551, 2555 (2015).
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States 2016 WL 4179838, at *15 (D. Conn. Aug. 5, 2016). That is so because, to convict on a
conspiracy charge, “[a] jury need only find that the defendant ‘intended to bring about the
elements of the conspired offensed” (quotingState v. Padua73 Conn. 138, 166 (2005)),

and mere “[ijrtent’ to use physical force does not amount to the actual use, threatened, or
attempted use of physical forceld.; see alsdUnited States v. Alfons@019 WL 1916199, at *3

(D. Conn. Apr. 30, 2019) conspiracy to commit robbery in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-
48(a) is not a crime of violence under the Elements Clause [of the career offenééngpid
because it does not have as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened usé of physica
force.”).

Thus, conspiracy to commit secoddgree assault doast qualify as a “violent felony”
under the Guidelines’ Elements Clause and couldafigr,Johnsonserve as a predicate offense
for an armed career crimindésignation under ACCA.

At the timeof Hines’s sentencingionspiracy to commit secortkgree assautjualified
as a “crime of violence” undéhe Guidelines’ Residual Claubecause itinvolve[d] conduct
that presents a serious potential risk of physical injury to anothkeg&’S.G. § 4B1.2(a)(2)As
the Second Circuit has observed, “[a] conspiracy, by its very nature, . . . enhancesiltioadkel
that the planned crime will be carried outJhited States v. EldeB8 F.3d 127, 129 (2d Cir.

1996) (per ctiam) (quotingUnited States v. Patin®62 F.2d 263, 267 (2d Cir. 1992 Thus,
“when a conspiracy exists to commit a crime of violence,” such as selegnde assault, “the
conspiracy itself poses a ‘substantial risk’ of violence, which qualifies its a came of
violence” undethe Guidelines’Residual ClauseSee id.

Sincethe time ofHines’s sentencing, the United States Sentencing Commission has

amended the Guidelines to corh with the Supreme Court’s ruling dohnson.In 2016,the



Sentencing Commission amended section 4B1.2(a) by strikirgesidual ClauseSee

U.S.S.G. § 4B1.2(a)(®).As a result, a defendaséntenced todagan no longer be designated as
a career offendarnder the Guidelindsasedon one or more priofelony convictions that

involved “conduct presenting a serious potential risk of physical injury to anotGeatl.

Hines, however, was sentenced in 2006 when the Guidetime=2r offender Residual
Clauseremained in effect. Furthermore, even though the Supreme Court struck down ACCA’s
Residual Clause as unconstitutionally vaguéahnsonthe Court has expressly held that the
corresponding provision of the Sentencing Guidelines is “not void for vaguerisskies 137
S. Ct. at 895. Accordingly, Hines’s 1997 conviction still serag@ predicate offense fois
career offender status under the Guidelines’ Residual Clause when he wasese@eoause
Hines had‘two prior felony convictions of . . . a crime of violence” afi@hnsonseeU.S.S.G.

§ 4B1.1(a)hequalifiedas a career offender under the Guidelines regardless of whether the
government could obtain a higher statutsentencing rangender ACCAor a higher Guidelines
range under the armed career criminal provision of the Guidelines.

Finally, the record makes clear thvelhien sentencing Hinekrelied upon his Guideline
rangerather than his status as an armed career crimittdr ACCA. At sentencingl noted that

Hines’s range under the Guidelines was “even longer than” his 15-year mandatonamini

6 “Section 4B1.2(a) is amended by striking paragraph (2)l@svk:

‘(2) is burglary of a dwelling, arson, or extortion, involves use of explosives, or d¢ledrwolves conduct that
presents a serious potential risk of physical injury to another,

and inserting the following:
‘(2) is murder, voluntary manslaughter, kidnapping, aggravated assault, a foegilolifense, robbery, arson,

extortion, or the use or unlawful possession of a firearm described in 26 [§]$5845(a) or explosive material as
defined in 18 U.S.d§] 841(c)””

U.S.S.G.8 4B1.2(amended 2016).



pursuant ttACCA'’s ResidualClause. Sentencing Hr'dgr., Doc. No. 11-3, at 20-21, and |
expressly stated that a sentence within Hines’s Guidelines range was “correct” and
“appropriate.” Seed. at 22, 25.Ultimately, | sentenced Hines to a term of incarcerata fell
atthe very bottom of the Guidelines range (262 months), but well above fiesat Baandatory
minimum under ACCA. Nothing in the record suggests that | “felt constrained by the stadut
might [have] impose[d] a lesser sentence” without ACCA. United States v. Feldma647

F.3d 450, 459 (2d Cir. 2011)nstead, unambiguously indicated that | “would have imposed
the same sentence” irrespective of whether the government sbagitatutory sentencing range
underACCA. See United States v. Bain, 743 F.3d 357, 361 (2d Cir. 2014) (per curiam);
Feldman 647 F.3d at 459. Simply put, the erroneous ACCA designatidmot affect”

Hines’s sentenceSee United States v. Out@86 F.3d 622, 640 (2d Cir. 2002).

Hines’s two concurrent sentences are not subjecithasorchallenge, and in
sentencing him on those counts, | did not rely oramsed career criminalesignation under
ACCA. Because the ACCA error “caused no prejuditnterwood 166 F.3d at 87, Hes is
“not entitled to habeas relief.”Brecht 507 U.S. at 637Therefore, deny his section255

petition.

" Hines argues that harmless error analysis cannot be applied here because, asShablazz v. United States

2017 WL 27394, at *1 (D. Conn. Jan. 3, 2017)Jahhsorerror is a structural error not amenable to harmless error
review.” The government correctly responds t8habazis inapposite. I'Shabazzthe defendant was convicted

and sentenced under ACCA on a single count. | held that | could not retrospectivebywdeetder Shabazz's prior
offenses qualified as “violent felonies” under ACCA’s Elements Clause, tisedavalidation of the Residual

Clause ‘affect[s] the entire framework in which an ACCA finding proceett. &t *8 (quotingVillanueva v.

United States191 F. Supp. 3d 178, 190 (D. Conn. 201éY,d on other gounds __ F.3d __, 2018 WL 3077064

(2d Cir. 2018)).In the present case, consistent v8tiabazzl do not consider whether Hines’s ACCA conviction
can be salvaged under the Elements Clause. Rather, | hold that the erroneousr@géement is harmless
because Hines also was convicted and sentenced on two unrelated counts.
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[Il1.  First Step Act Motion

Hinesseeks relief pursuant to the recently passed First Step Act, requestingeatiane
release or, in the alternative, a prompt resentencing ghreescounts of conviction from 2006
felon in possession of a firearm (count opessessn with intent todistributefive or more
grams of cocaine baseg., “crack cocain&(counttwo), and possession, use, and carrying a
firearm during, in relation to, and in furtherance of a drug offense (count tt8e€first Step
Act Motion (“FSA Mot.”), Cr. Doc. No. 63. The government opposes the motion on the basi
tha Hines is not entitled to a resentencing on counts one and Wi arenot covered
offenses. SeeOpp’n to FSA Mot.Cr. Doc. No. 67. Further, the government argues that, in my
discretion, | should refuse to reduce Hines’s sentence anyway because of the rhisicriofe.
Id. For the following reasonsiiness motion isgranted insofar as he requests a resentencing

A. Eligibility for Relief

Following Hines’ssentencing, Congress passed the Fair Sentencing Act of 2010, Pub.
Law 111-220, 124 Stat. 23{ZFair Sentencing Act”)which “reduced the statutory penalties
for cocaine base][] offenses’ in order to ‘alleviate the severe sentencingtgligganieen crack
and powder cocaine.”United States v. Samps@60 F. Supp. 3d 168, 169 (W.D.N.Y. 2019)
(quotingUnited States Weters 843 F.3d 572, 575 (4th Cir. 2016)). In 2018, Congress passed,
and the President signed into law, the First Step Act, Pub. L. No. 115-391, 132 St4tF5$04
Step Act”) Section 404 of the First Step Act made retroactive some provisionskdithe
Sentencing Act. First Step Act 8§ 404(lhirst Step Act relief is available to those convicted of a
“covered offense,” which Section 404 defines as “a violation of a Federal crirahéks the
statutory penalties for which were modified by section 2 or 3 of the Fair Sentencing28dt0of

..., that was committed before August 3, 2010.” First Step Act § 404(a).
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At the time ofHiness sentencing, pre-Fair Sentencing Act, cases involfigggrams or
more of crack cocaine fell under 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(b)(1)(B)camded a mandatory minimum
penalty offive years’ incarceration and a maximum of 40 years’ incarceragee United States
v. Rivera 170F. App’x 209, 210 (2d Cir. 2006 Section two othe Fair Sentencing Act
changed the statutory section and penalties for cases invéikergrams or more of crack
cocainethat quantity of crack cocaine ndalls under 21 U.S.C. § 841(b)(1)(@nd carrieso
mandatory minimum penalty ardstatutory maximum penalty of twenygars’ incarceration.
SeeFair Sentencing Act 8.2Accordingly, because the Fair Sentencing Act modified the
penalties for a crime involvinfive grams or more of crack cocajribat crime, if committed
before August 3, 2010 a “covered offense” fguurposes of the First Step AcseeFirst Step
Act § 404(b). Thegovernment also conclud#satHiness conviction on couniwo is a covered
offense. SeePSR AddenduntCr. Doc. No. 64at 2; Opp’n to FSA Mot.Cr. Doc. No. 67, at 9.
Thus, there is no question that under the First Step Act, Hines is eligible for rediedimintwo.
The only remaining question is whether he is eligibledsentencingn counts one and three.

B. Scope of Relief

In other First Step Act cases before, miefendants who were convicted of one covered
offense and one or more other offenses have argued for plenary resentencing on alSesmjnts
e.g, United States v. Felix DeJes@019 WL 5997336, at *1 (D. Conn. Nov. 1, 2019). | have
granted those requests because, in my view, a defendant who is entitled to relief uRtst the
Step Act for a covered offense is also entitled to a full resentencing oml redaiéctions. See
id.; see alsdJnited States v. Medin2019 WL 3769598 (D. Conn. July 17, 2018ut Hines
does not really argue for a plenary resentencing here. Instead, Hinewssek aside the

issue of whether [he] would be entitled to plenary resentencing or a limiesdersing” and
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simply asserts that he is entitled to a reserignon count two.SeeDef.’s Response to PSA
Addendum, Doc. No. 66. Hines argues instead that under section 2255, desqpitaéa Part

l, he is entitled to a resentencing on count one and that his new guidelines range on that count—
should I find that he is no longer an armed career criminal under ACCA—would drop drasticall
from 262-327 months to 37-46 monthSeeResponse to PSR Addendum, Doc. No. 66. Had

those been the guidelines when | sentenced Hines back in 2006, Hines argues, | very likely
would have given him a lesser sentence on count two, too. However, as explained above, Hines
is not entitled to a resentencing on count one. Thus, Hines’s reliance on his section 2255 motion
is misplaced.

Despite that misplaced reliance, Hines is stilltiadito a plenary resentencing because |
hold that the First Step Aauthorizesne, when a defendant is entitled to relief for a covered
offense, to conduct a plenary resentencing. | have recently set forth comprekiehsivedsons
for that conclusion itJnited States v. Luna__ F. Supp. 3d __, 2020 WL 464778 (D. Conn. Jan.

29, 2020). Those reasons apply equally here.

V. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Hines’s section 2255 motion to vacate his sentismeds
Hines’s First Step Act motion granted, and Hines is entitled to a plenary resentencing. The
clerk shall schedule a prompt resentencing.

So ordered.

Dated at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 7th day of February 2020.

/s/ STEFAN R. UNDERHILL
Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge

13



	IV. Conclusion

